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RHEE et al

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

LESLIE JACKSON,
No. 1:09-cv-00839 BJR
Plaintiff No. 1:10-cv-00604 BJR
(designated related cages
V.

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, et al.,

Defendants.

. INTRODUCTION

This matter comes before the court on twaions to dismiss filed by the defendants
Jackson v. District of Columbia, et al.:09-cv-00839 (BJR) Jackson I') andJackson v. Rhegq
et al, 1:10-cv-00604 (BJR) ackson I1").! Plaintiff Leslie Jackson brgs this action on beha
of her minor son pursuant toetindividuals with DisabilitiesEducation Improvement Act g

2004, 20 U.S.C. §§ 1400 et seq. (“IDEIA) 42 U.S.C. § 1983 (“Section 1983"), Section 504

! The cases are designated related pursuant td_Dc@l Rule 40.5(b)(2). Thparties in each case are

identical.

2 Until the 2004 revisions to the Act, it was known as the Individuals with Disabilities Education
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the Rehabilitation Act, 29 U.S.C. 8 794 (“Secti504”), and the Americans with Disabiliti¢

Act, 42 U.S.C. § 12132 (the “ADA”"). DefendantsetBistrict of Columbia and Michelle Rhe
in her official capacity as Chancellor of the District of Columbia Public Schools (“DCPS”),

to partially or entirely dismiss the operative cdanus in each case pursuao Federal Rule o

Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) and the doctrineres judicata® Upon consideration of the motions

and replies, the oppositions thereas well as the relevant lathe court finds as follows.

1. BACKGROUND

This matter has a long and labedmistory. To date, five adnistrative complaints hav
been filed with the Student Hearing Offtcéhree lawsuits have been filed in federal court,

an untold number of meetingsica hearings have been held. At the center of this disputg

child, AJP, who has moderate to severe phygitsdbilities and developmental delays. As

result, he qualifies for speciabducation services througBCPS. The parties, despi
admonishments from Hearing Offiseaind at least two district cayudges, have been unable
agree on an individual education plan (“IEPAdaplacement for AJP. This court is concern
that the parties have become so entrenchettham battle that they kg ago forgot what ig

important here—AJP. With this in mind, theurt will now address the motions before it.

Act, or IDEA. This earlier abbreviation is reflectin passages quoted throughout this opinion.

3 Defendants move to dismiss the Amended Complaiddékson (dkt. no. 9) and seek partial dismissal g

the Complaint inJackson li(dkt. no. 3).

4 The Student Hearing Office is paiftthe District of Columbia Superintendent of Education Office of

Review and Compliance. A parent dissatisfied with an individual education plan developieddioher child has a|
right to a due process heariognducted by the state or local educatioenay before an impartial hearing officer.
20 U.S.C. § 1415(f)(2), (3). The decision of the hearing officer (“HOD") is final, and any party agdgeeHOD
may challenge it in a civil actioid. § 1415(i)(1), (2).
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A. Statutory Background
1. ThelDEIA
The IDEIA aims “to ensure that all children widisabilities have available to them a fr
appropriate public education (“FPE”") that emphasizes specialueation and related servicq
designed to meet their unigmeeds and prepare them for further education, employment
independent living.” 20 U.S.C. § 1400(d)(1)(Ahe D.C. court of ap@ds has explained th
crucial role that the IEP plays in piding the FAPE the statute guarantees:
If a child's initial evaluation sugges he is entitled to a FAPE,
IDEA then requires the school dist to create and implement an
IEP, which is the “primary vehicle” for implementing the Act.
Honig v. Doge 484 U.S. 305, 311, 108 S. Ct. 592, 98 L. Ed. 2d 686
(1988). The IEP is “[p]repadeat meetings between a
representative of the local school district, the child's teacher, the
parents or guardians, and, wkgar appropriate, the disabled
child.” Id. It “sets out the child’s presit educational performance,
establishes annual astort-term objectives for improvements in
that performance, and descrilibs specially designed instruction
and services that will enable the child to meet those objectives.”
Id.; see alsB4 C.F.R. § 300.343(b)(2) (requiring a “meeting to
develop an IEP” within 30 dayfsllowing the completion of a
disabled student's initial evaluation).
Lesense v. Dist. of Columbiéd7 F.3d 828, 830 (D.C. Cir. 2006gealso Honig v. Dog484
U.S. 305, 311 (1988) (Congress envisioned the IEP “as the centerpiece of the statute’s eg
delivery system for disabled children”).
The understandable hope on which the statuiased is that the implementation of an
IEP will permit the child to improve. Thus, theEDA commands that a local educational age
ensure that a re-evaluation of each child is dohen either the agency determines that *
educational or related services needs,uigiclg improved academic achievement and functig

performance, of the child warrant a reevaluatiam,if the child’s parents or teacher requests

20 U.S.C. § 1414(a)(2)(A). Such an evaluation nmgsur at least once eny three years, unleg
ORDER-3
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the local educational agencynd the parent agree it isnnecessary. 20 U.S.C.

1414(a)(2)(B)(ii); 34 C.F.R. § 300.303. Furthermdyeginning with the firslEP in effect oncsg

the child is 16, and updated annually theegathe IEP must include the following:
(aa) appropriate measuralplestsecondary goals based upon age
appropriate transition assessmemetated to training, education,

employment, and, where appropeigindependent living skills;

(bb) the transition serses (including cowges of study) needed
to assist the child in reaching those goals; and

(cc) beginning not later than ar before the child reaches the

age of majority under State laa statement that the child has

been informed of the child's rightader this title, if any, that will

transfer to the childn reaching the agd majority under

section 615(m).
20 U.S.C. § 1414(d)(1)(A)(i)(VIIl)see als8B4 C.F.R. § 300.320(b).

2. Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act
Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act proveddat “[n]o otherwise qualified handicapps

individual in the United States shall, solely by reason of his handicap, be excluded from th
participation in, be denied the benefits ofpersubjected to discrimination under any progran|
activity receiving Fedal financial assistare....” 29 U.S.C. § 794ee also Robinson v. District
of Columbia 535 F.Supp.2d 38, 41 (D.D.C.2008) (“Secttfid prohibits programs and entitieg
that receive federal funding from denying bendfitsor otherwise discriminating against, a
person ‘solely by reason’ of that individudiandicap.”). In the context of cases involving
children who receive benefits pursuant to the IDEI@Urts have consistéy recognized that in
order to establish a violation of § 504, “somethimore than a mere failure to provide the fre
appropriate education required [tiye IDEA] must be shown.’Lunceford v. D.C. Bd. of Edyc.

745 F.2d 1577, 1580 (D.C.Cir.1984) (quotMgnahan v. Nebrask®87 F.2d 1164, 1170 (8th

Cir.1982));see also Robinso®35 F.Supp.2d at 42 (citing casé§pecifically, plaintiffs must
ORDER-4
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show either bad faith or gss misjudgment on the parttbe governmental defendants.”
Robinson535 F.Supp.2d at 42.
3. The Americans with Disabilities Act
The ADA provides that “no qualifeeindividual with a disabity shall, by reason of suclh

disability, be excluded from paripation in or be denied the bdite of the services, programs,

or activities of a public entity, dve subjected to discrimination by any such entity.” 42 U.S.Q.

12132. To show that the exclusion was “by reasoisfor her disabili, an individual must

establish that the disdity “actually play[ed]a role in the ... decision making process and [had] a

determinative influence on the outcomBihkerton v. Spelling$29 F.3d 513, 519 (5th Cir.
2008) (quotingSoledad v. U.S. Dep't of TreasuBp4 F.3d 500, 503-04 (5th Cir. 2002¢e also
Cummings v. Woodson Senior High Schb6B F.Supp.2d 256, 260 (D.D.C. 2008) (observin
that a plaintiff must show shwas discriminated against on the basis of her disabHtggonv.
Merritt Educational Center521 F.Supp.2d 22, 31 (D.D.C. 2007) (same).
B. Factual Background and Procedural History

When AJP was two years old he was diagdosith Pervasive Developmental Disord
SeeJackson IICompl., Dkt. No. 1 at § 3. As such, tvas entitled to rece¢ special educatio
services from DCPS pursuant to 20 U.S.C. § 13)jBj. He was enrolledn the District of
Columbia Infant and Toddler Child Find Pragr and received language, occupational,
technical servicedd. In August 2004, when AJP wasdhbryears old, DCPS developed an |
for him. It included speech therapy, occupaél therapy, assistiviechnology, sign languag

instruction, behavioral managent services, and a full time, one-to-one dedicated &de
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Jackson IComplaint, Dkt. No. 1 at { 27. The REwas signed by Ms. Jackson, and AJP
placed in Stoddert Elementary Scha®e Jackson I[Complaint, Dkt. No. 1 at § 2.

In March 2005, DCPS notified Ms. Jacksoattit would be changing AJP’s placeme
because Stoddert Elementary School no longer affére services that AJP needed per his |
SeePlaintiff's Opposition to Dismiss idackson I(*Jackson 10pp.”), Dkt. No. 11 at 2
Thereafter, on August 10, 2005, DCPS issued a IRy placing AJP in # citywide autism
program at Barnard Elementary Schagdckson IComp., Dkt. No. 1 at § 30. The IEP al
changed AJP’s classification from “ddopmentally delayed” to “autisticld.

Ms. Jackson did not agree with the new classification and placeiderat 32. On
September 13, 2005, she filed amadistrative due process compiawith the Student Hearin
Office asserting AJR' “stay put” right€ Ms. Jackson alleges that DCPS denied her req
Jackson [IComp. at T 8. One week lat®n September 22, she filedit in the United State
District Court for the District of Columbial.aster v. District of Columbial:05-cv-01875
(Urbina), and moved for a temg@oy restraining order. Judge Urbina granted her request
“stay put” injunction on September 28, 200ackson [ICompl., Dkt. No. 1 at § 10. Thereaftg
Judge Urbina issued an ordequiring that “DCPS fund all refled services and supplemen

aids on [AJP’s 2004 IEP]until [the] administrative due process complaint [before the Stug

° Ms. Jackson also alleges that at around this fim2ecember 2004, she fouadruise on AJP’s head

when she picked him up from schoddckson IOpp. at 2. She alleges that AJP suffered a seizure later that eve
and was taken to the hospitethere he received a CT Scéah. She claims that she was told the CT Scan was no
and that AJP had suffered a seizlde AJP had another seizure in January 2005 and in April 2006, he was

hospitalized for a “huge” seizurgackson [IComp. Dkt. 1 at | 4. She claims that during this stay, the hospital
informed her that the CT Scan from 2004 showed some swelling of AJP’sltran{ 5. Ms. Jackson raised theg

allegations for the first time idackson in her Opposition to defendants’ Matido Dismiss. Defendants claim thak

this is the first time that DCPS was maueare of the alleged December 2004 incidéatkson IReply, Dkt. No.
12 at 4. The allegations are re-iterated inJ&ekson [IComplaint.See Jackson I[Comp. Dkt. No. 1.

6 The IDEIA allows for a student to remain in hisher “then current educational placement,” referred to

the student’s “stay put” placement, pending resolution of the administrative proceedings.
ORDER-6
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Hearing Office] is decidecaind any appeal therefrom concluded.Sege LasterDkt. No. 4,
September 30, 2005 Order (emphasis added).
The hearing on the administrative comipidnad been scheduled for November 10, 2@

However, after Judge Urbinatsiling, counsel for MsJackson removed the hearing from {

Student Hearing Office’s calendaee Jackson Defendants’ Opposition to Request for

Temporary Restraining Order (“Def. Opp. to @R, Dkt. No. 4 at 2. From November 2005
September 2008, no further administrative prdoegs were requested or held for AIP.

In November 2005, Ms. Jackson withdré&dP from DCPS and began homeschool
him. Id. From November 2005 through July 2009, E¥Cdid not have any contact with AJ.
DCPS claims that Ms. Jackson denied it access Ry &dd as a result, it was unable to evaly
and update his IERd. However, per Judge Urbina’s Septber 30, 2005 Order, DCPS was 9

required to pay for all of AJP’s services and supplemental éeesLasterDkt. No. 4-3.

DCPS convened a Multidisciplinary TegtMDT”)/IEP meeting on October 17, 2006 in

order to review and revise AXPIEP. The parties’ descriptis of the meeting differ. DCP
claims that Ms. Jackson did not cooperate, imstrguing that per Judddrbina’s order, AJP’Y
2004 IEP remained in effect. Ms. Jackson countesshe wanted to participate in the meet
but was forceably removed by a security guard when she tried to tape record the n
Jackson IlCompl. Dkt. No. 1 at  134.

On September 23, 2008, DCPS moved fbefrédrom Judge Urbina’s OrdeLaster, Dkt.

No. 60. DCPS argued that the IEP was no longerapriate for AJP because it was over fq

! Also around this time, DCPS petitioned Judge Urbinaodify the September 30, 2005 Order to allow
payment by the school district to AJP’s service prersdo be made every 15 days rather than weké#bter, Dkt.
No. 36. The court granted DCPS’ requéstat Dkt. No. 46. Ms. Jackson claims that after the court made this
modification, DCPS began disputing all of ARJ's aide’s and service provider's invBmedacksonPlaintiff's
Opposition to Motion to Dismiss Jackson I0pp. to Mot. Dis.”), Dkt. No. 11 at 5-6.
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years old.Id. In its stead, DCPS sought an order raggiMs. Jackson to make AJP availal

for classroom observation and reakiation, and to attend andrpeipate in anlEP meetingld.

e

Judge Urbina granted the motion on January 22, 2009, thereby terminating the September 30,

2005 stay put ordeid. at Dkt. Nos. 73 and 74. In hidemorandum Opinion, Judge Urbina

instructed the parties tovork together to update AJP’s IER accordance witlthe IDEA.” Dkt.

No. 74 at 7

Thereafter, DCPS sent Ms. Jackson two lettegsiesting to meetith her to develop the

new IEP. Ms. Jackson did not respond to [#teers, but instead, onrdaary 26, she filed al
administrative due process complaint with ®kident Hearing Officerequesting a stay py
order.See Jackson ICompl. at § 16. She then filed ahet due process comamt on February
24, 2009. Both actions were dismissed withpugjudice; Ms. Jackson also withdrew t
complaints. The record is unclear which avedismissal or withdawal—occurred first.

Then, on March 23, 2009, Ms. Jackson filewtaer due process complaint. In it, §
sought independent evaluations of AJP, a stay put order for AJP and his providers, transy
costs, and compensatory education for “failingfuad certain services that were ordered
Judge Urbina.”Jackson | Dkt. No. 9-3. The case was ass&drto Hearing Officer Terry Bankg
Jackson ICompl. at § 17. The parties attemptedrteet for the required pre-hearing resolut
conference, but Ms. Jackson alleges that a disprase over whether she was required to

enroll AJP in the District of Columbia schosystem before the necessary observation

8 During this same time-period, the parties weredttitg the payment dispute before Special Master Elis

Baach.See JacksonDef. Opp. to TRO at 3 fn. 1. Also during thisie, Ms. Jackson alleges that Natalia Houston,

special assistant to the Director ofe8fal Education for DCPS reported Msckson to The District of Columbia’s
Child and Family Services for suspected educational negkazkson IOpp. Mot. to Dis. at 7-8. She claims that M
Houston reported her to Child Family Services in reialiafor Ms. Jackson’s refusal to dismiss the suit before
Judge Urbinald.
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evaluation could take plactd. at 1 21-24. Ms. Jackson claims that the parties spent the next

several months arguing about whetblee had filed the correct paperwold.

In the meantime, Hearing Officer Banks issagdinterim order in which he denied Ms.

Jackson’s request for a Stay Put Ordidrat § 31. Ms. Jackson filedmotion for reconsideratio
and a motion for recusal based on bids.Officer Banks denied both motions.

Next Ms. Jackson filedackson | the first of the two lawsuits presently before this co

on May 6, 2009See Jackson Dkt. No. 1. She also soughtt@mporary restraining order to

force compliance with Judge Urbina’s September 30, 2005 Oddert Dkt. No. 2.

Thereafter, on May 18, 200%earing Officer Banks issued his final opinio8ee

Jackson 1] Hearing Officer Decision dated May 13)09 (the “May 18, 2009 HOD”), attached

urt,

to Dkt. No. 1. He dismissed Ms. Jackson’s guecess complaint, holding that Judge Urbina’s

order relieved DCPS of any obligation to fundvsees or aides relatieto the out-dated 200

IEP. 1d. He also held that AJP wast entitled to a stay put der because the only “placement”

afforded to him had since beensecended per Judge Urbina’s ordéd. This left only the
allegations of DCPS’ failure to reevaluate AalRl update his IEP. However, the Hearing Offi
held that all of the allegations in the three due process complaints occurred prior to Jan
2009 (the date of Judge Urbina’s order in which he rescinded the September 30, 2005
and therefore were within Jud@gbina’s jurisdiction. As suchthe Hearing Officer lacked th
authority to adjudicate the claimkl. Nevertheless, Hearing Oféir Banks ordered DCPS

convene a meeting to develop a Studevaluation Plan and IEP for AJH. at p. 5.

cer
hary 22,

Order),

(0]

On June 15, 2009, United States District Judge Kennedy denied Ms. Jackson’s request for

a temporary restraining ordelackson | Dkt. No. 7. Ms. Jacksonléd an Amended Complair]

9

Hearing Officer BanksSee e.g. Jackson@ompl. at 1 25-27.
ORDER-9
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on June 16, 2009, and DCPS moved to dismi$d.jtDkt. Nos. 8 and 9. This motion is current

pending before the court andabject of this order.
From May to July 2009, AJP received the following evaluations: (1) an Augmen
and Alternative Communication Evaluation; (@p Occupational Therapy Evaluation; (3)

Psychoeducational Evaluation; and @)Speech and Language Evaluati®@ee Jackson Il

Compl. Ex. 1 at 8-11. The Children’s NatanMedical Center (“CNMC”) conducted the

Augmentative and Alternater Communication Evaluatiorid. at 8. Based on its evaluatio

CNMC recommended that AJP receive a “fdlugmentative and Alternative Communication

“AAC”] system that includes symbols, sferes, and [a] durable speech genera

device...[and] intensive speech therapy servicemdtiress his overall learning and assist in

tative

a

n,

ting

the

manifestation of an AAC system into hdaily activities, and expand his receptive gnd

expressive language developmeind.”

The occupational therapist, Kathy Chuma®ghamic Development, recommended that

AJP receive: (1) preferential seating in all acaidesettings; (2) a sensory diet; (3) an assis
technology device; (4) individualized speealdaoccupational therapy twice weekly; and

individualized occupational therapynce a week within the school settihdy. at 9.

Interdynamics, Inc. completed AJP’s Psydhaeational Evaluation. ktoncluded that the

evaluation “strongly [indicates] a diagnosisAutism that is co-morbid with ADHD.Id. at 10.

It recommended that AJP needs a comprahengull time education program, speech 4

language therapy, occupational #ygy, medication provisions, echtional assistance, behavipr

management (ABA, toileting), one-to-one assisgarand transportation to and from his sch

day.ld.
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Interdynamics also completed AJP’s Speech and Language Evallgtianll. It found
that AJP is non-verbal and pramly communicates through gesturéte has significant attentio
and sensory difficultiedd. Interdynamics concluded that R$ communication deficits wer

severe and recommended that he receivecspand language therapy three hours per week.

In early August 2009, Ms. Jackson conseritedring AJP to Brightwood Elementaty

School so that DCPS staff méers could observe hindackson IICompl. at 1 42 and 52.

Thereafter, DCPS convened an Multidiscipiy team (“MDT”) meeting on August 26, 2009

update AJP’s IEP and to determine placemieht.Ex. 1 at 12. The partmgants in the meeting

included Ms. Jackson, Natalia Hooist(special assistatd the Director oSpecial Education fof

DCPS), Deidre Williams (Program Manager, DAPfice of Special Education), Leslie Charl

(a speech and language pathologist for DCP®ie Glanville (an autism specialist with

DCPS), LaTanya Randolph (a school psychologhigia Nti (an occupation therapist), Gay
Hall (a Program Manager for DCPS) and Shenaz Hussain (a physical thetdpisipne of
AJP’s current service providers attended the mediing.

Based on its observation of AJP, the evaluations, and Ms. Jackson’'s
recommendations, the MDT developed an IEP pnescribed 23.5 hours per week of speciali
instruction in an out-of-general educationvieonment, one hour per week of occupatio
therapy, and three hours per week of speech and language theraplie MDT agreed tq
purchase the assistivechnology device recommended by CNM@d prescribed a dedicats
aide for AJP for the morning bus ride, throughthw& school day, and fordhafternoon bus ridg
back to his homdd. at 12-13.

In addition, the MDT placed AJP in Tyler Elementary Schimbl.at 13. DCPS allege

that it selected Tyler Elementary because: (1B Aduld be placed in an intermediate program i
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which the students range in age from 8-10; (2) the classes have low student to teacher r

the teacher is certified in special education aathéd in Applied Behavior Analysis for children

with autism; (4) the school employs ethPECS methodology recommended in AJ

Psychoeducational Evaluation; (5) AJP’s teactveuld be assisted by two board certifi

R'S

d

19%

behavior assistants; and (6) Tyler Elementary d&ull time nurse, occupational therapist, and a

speech and language therapist on its premides.

Ms. Jackson objects to the IEP and AJPa&eiment at Tyler Elementary. She argues
the IEP does not provide sufficient accommodatitorsAJP’s disabilitis. Specifically, shq
claims that the IEP should have included theafsspecific assistive ténologies, and a plan i
the event of AJP’s “inevitable seizuresd. She objects to his schoplacement because si
believes that Tyler Elementary does not haveadequate occupational therapy room, does
have a full time nurse, and does not have adeqassistive technology services. Instead,
Jackson requests that AJP be placed in one of two private schools, lvymount or St. Cdlej
at 13-14.

Ms. Jackson filed a second request for a temporary restraining od#mkson | seeking
a stay put ordeiSee Jackson Dkt. Nos. 13. The request was denied on September 22,180(
at Dkt. No. 15. Thereafter, on October 29, 200® filed another administrative due procq
complaint with the Student Hearing Officeee Jackson ICompl., Ex. 1 at 4. In it she allegq
that DCPS had failed to: (1) develop an appedpr IEP, and (2) pwvide an appropriatg
placement. The complaint alleged additionalations that predated the May 18, 2009 H@QD.
At the prehearing conference, Hearing Offi&anks excluded those claims pursuant to

doctrine ofres judicatald.
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The due process hearing was held on January 11, 28@Kson | Complat  64. Ms.

Jackson claims that she attentpte submit letters from AJP’s phggns in support of her clair

that Tyler Elementary is not a safe envir@amnh for him, but that Hearing Officer Banks

=)

excluded the letters as inadmissible hearséyat Y 65-67. She did present testimony from

Melanie Davis (AJP’s current care provider),irlly Flemister (a paraprofessional at Riggs

Special Center), and his grandfath&ee Jackson ICompl., Ex. 1 at 6. DCPS present
testimony from Ms. Charles, Ms. @halle, Ms. Houston, and Ms. Williamé&d.

On January 23, 2010, Hearing @#r Banks issued a final decision in which he affirn|
DCPS’ IEP and placemerit. at 1 69. Ms. Jackson sought ledneen this court to file a Secon
Amended Complaint, which Judge Kennedy denied on June 28, 26&Qlohnson Dkt. Nos.
17 and 20. However, while her motion svstill pending, Ms. Jackson filethckson llon April
19, 2010. The case was designated relatelhd¢&son land assigned to this court. Ms. Jacks
characterizedackson llas an appeal of Hearing OfficBank’s January 23, 2010 decision (t
“January 23, 2010 HOD").

DCPS moved to partially dismissckson 1l See Jackson,IDkt. No. 3. The motion ig
currently pending and is a subjeaf this order. Inaddition, Ms. Jackson moved for summg
judgment in both caseSeeJackson | Dkt. No. 21;Jackson I} Dkt. No. 7. On March 23, 201(
per DCPS’s request, the motions were disnisséhout prejudice pending the resolution
DCPS’ motions to dismiss. On October 18, 2011, bates were transferredttos district court

judge.Jackson | Dkt. No. 25;Jackson I Dkt. No. 11.
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[11.  STANDARD OF REVIEW
A. Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6)
The Federal Rules of Civil Peedure require that a complagontain “a short and plaif
statement of the claim showing that the pleadeentitled to relief,” in order to ‘give th

defendant fair notice of what the ... ais and the grounds upon which it rest8€&ll Atl. Corp.

v. Twombly 550 U.S. 544, 555 (2007yyoting Conley v. Gibsor855 U.S. 41, 47, (1957).

Although “detailed factual allegations” are n@&cessary to withstand a Rule 12(b)(6) motior
dismiss, to provide the “grounds” of “entitle[mend]relief,” a plaintiff must furnish “more than
labels and conclusions” or “a formulaic recitatiof the elements of a cause of actida.” at
1964-65 see also Papasan v. Allaid78 U.S. 265, 286 (1986). A complaint must cont
sufficient factual matter, accepted as true, to “state a claim to relief that is plausible on it§
Twombly 550 U.S. at 570.

In evaluating a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismissfailure to state a claim, the court mu
construe the complaint in a ligilmost favorable to the plaintiff and must accept as trug
reasonable factual inferences drawonirwell-pleaded factual allegationis re United Mine
Workers of Am. Empj@e Benefit Plans Litig854 F.Supp. 914, 915 (D.D.C.1994). However
the Supreme Court recently made clear, anpfdimust provide morethan just “a shee
possibility that a deferaht has acted unlawfullyAshcroft v. Igbal556 U.S. 662 (2009). Wher
the well-pleaded facts set forth in the complaint do not permit a court, drawing on its |t
experience and common sense, to infer moam tthe “mere possibility of misconduct,” th

complaint has not shown that thieader is entitled to reliefd. at 671.

ORDER-14
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DISCUSSION
A. Defendants’Motion to Dismiss Jackson |

Ms. Jackson characterizéackson las both an appeal tie May 18, 2009 HOD and 4

action seeking “injunctive stay put relieflackson | Dkt. No. 8 at 2. The Amended Complaint

includes two claims: (1) thahe May 18, 2009 HOD violated tHBEIA because “the relief
granted was not adequate or ayprate and is not consistenitivthe facts and law,” and (2
because the May 18, 2009 HOD did fetvard appropriate relief,” ghhas been “denied feder
statutory rights in violatin of law and 42 U.S.C. § 1983d. at 5-6. As relief, Ms. Jackson se¢
an order that: (1) DCPS maintain AJP in his current educational placement, which would
paying his service providers and transportatiosts; (2) DCPS provide a “lump sum of fo
years of compensatory educationA&®P or provide compensatory tutorial and related servicg
compensate AJP for the educational services hbkaivas deprived as a result of Defenda
violation of his stay put rights;” (3) DCPS plagdR in private school at the school distric
expense; and (4) DCPS convene an IEP meetohgat 6-7. Defendants counter that f
Amended Complaint must be dismissed because (thetextent that it is based on a “stay p
claim, it is barred by the doctrine s judicata (2) to the extent that is based upon a Sectid
1983 or Section 504 claim, it faile state a claim upon which relief may be granted; and (3
remaining IDEA claims are moot.
1. Plaintiff's “Stay Put” Claim Is Barred by the Doctrine of Res Judicata
Under the doctrine aks judicata“a judgment on the merits in a prior suit bars a seg
suit involving the same parties or theiiviigs based on the sanoause of action.Taylor v.
Blakey 490 F.3d 965 (D.C.Cir. 200#ev'd on other grounds553 U.S. 880 (2008)citing

Parklane Hosiery Co. v. Shqrd39 U.S. 322, 326 n. 5 (1979Res judicatabars re-litigation
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both of “issues that were” and @dsues that “could have beeaised” in the prior action|

Defendants argue that plaintiff fialready received a final judgnteon the merits of her “sta
put’ claim—Judge Urbina’s January 22, 2009 Q@rolewhich he set aside the September
2005 Order—thus, the claim is barredrbyg judicata

The court agrees. Ms. Jackson describesAimended Complaint an action “seeking

injunctive stay put relief,” sdhat AJP may remain in hikurrent educational placement]

Jackson | Dkt. No. at 2, 7. By “current educationahcement,” Ms. Jackson is referring to {
placement and accompanying services set in place by Judge Urbina’s September 30, 20(
However, Judge Urbina has alrgaéjected Ms. Jackson’s effdd continue this placemeree
Laster, 05-1875 (RMU), Dkt. No. 69 at 7 (setty aside the September 30, 2005 Order bec
“post-judgment changes, includinige fact that AJP is now 7egrs old and the 2004 IEP is g
of day, weigh in favor of setting aside the [off)erThis is a final judgment on the merit
Accordingly, the claim idbarred by the doctrine oés judicata
2. Plaintiff Has Failed to Statea Claim for Relief under Section 1983

“IDEA violations can bethe predicate for a 8§ 1983 uta based on those statuto
violations.” Johnson v. District of Columhbid 90 F.Supp.2d 34, 46-47 (D@ 2002). In order tq
maintain such a claim, a plaintiff must sho() that the defendant alated IDEA; (2) that
“exceptional circumstances” exist, such that ttonduct of the defendant causing the ID
violation was “persistently egregious and praeednor frustrated [plaintiff] from securin
equitable relief under the IDEA”; (3) that the “ist of Columbia has a custom or practice t
is the moving force behind the alleged IDEA viaas”; and (4) that “normal remedies offer
under the IDEA—specifically, compensatorydueation—are inadequate to compens

[plaintiff] for the harm that he [or she] alleged has suffer@dalker v. District of Columbial57
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F.Supp.2d 11, 30 (D.D.C. 200Bge also, Shelton v. Maya Angelou Public Charter Scl666l,

F.Supp.2d 82 (D.D.C. 2009R.S. v. District of Columbj&92 F.Supp.2d 23, 29 (D.D.C. 2003);

Daskalea v. District of Columbj@27 F.3d 433, 441 (D.C.Cir. 2008).

Plaintiff does not meet this burden. TAemended Complaint is comprised of twel
factual allegations, numbered 6-Tackson | Dkt. No. 8 at 4-5. Paragph 7 provides residentig
information for AJP. Paragraphs 8-10 descableninistrative procedas, and paragraphs 11-]

reiterate the actions that the May 18, 2009 HOD redi¢he parties to tak@aragraph 17 reaché

a sweeping conclusion that the May 18, 2009 HOD fahitifully address factually or legally &l

relief sought by plaintiffs in their due process complaint, such as compensatory edu
reimbursement costs and expenses and transportation and stag.patt.5. Paragraph 6 of th
Amended Complaint “re-alleges the gli¢ions contained in the complaintd. at 4. However,

the Complaint is equally bereft of any fadtalegations supporting a Section 1983 claim.

|6

2S

cation,

e

In short, the Complaint and Amended Complaint are devoid of any factual allegations

that would support a Section 1983 claim. Ms. Jackdoes not allege facts from which the cg
can infer that DCPS has a custom or practice that was the “moving force behind the
IDEA violation,” that “exceptionkcircumstances” exisor that the “normal remedies offerg
under the IDEA” are “inadequat®® compensate” AJP for the hna that he has allegedl
suffered. Although the threshold to survive a motion to dismiss under Federal Rule o
Procedure 12(b)(6) is relatively lowls. Jackson’s failure to allegay facts that would tend t
support a claim under Section 1983 rendissnissal of this claim appropriat8eeTwombly

127 S. Ct. 1955, 1960 (2007).

10 Some district court decisions consider only the first and third factors of thiSeesk.g., Johnsph90

F.Supp.2d at 46-4Zearley v. Ackermari16 F.Supp.2d 109, 114 (D.D.C. 2000).
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3. Plaintiff Has Failed to State a Claim under Section 504

To state a claim under &®n 504 “a plaintiff must show that he or she W
discriminated against solely bgason of his [or her] handicap¥Valker v. District of Columbia
969 F.Supp. 794, 797 (D.D.C. 1997) (internal quotat omitted). The D.C. Circuit has notg
that “something more than a mere failure to ptewthe ‘free appropriate education’ required
[IDEA] must be shown.’Lunceford v. D.C. Bd. of Edyc/45 F.2d 1577, 1580 (D.C.Cir. 198
quoting Monahan v. Nebrask&87 F.2d 1164, 1170 {8Cir. 1982). Insteada plaintiff must
show bad faith or gross misjudgnteon the part of a defendakValker, 969 F.Supp. at 798ge
also, R.S.292 F.Supp.2d at 28.

Once again, the Complaint and Amended Compkre devoid of anfactual allegationg
to support a Section 504 clairhMs. Jackson did not allege that AJP was treated differg
from non-disabled students solely becausehisf disabilities. Nor did she allege anythi
actionable that would tend to demonstrate gmssconduct or bad faitty DCPS. Accordingly,
dismissal of the Section 504 claim is warranted.

4. The May 18, 2009 HOD

Next Ms. Jackson asks the court to enter an order declaring “ehialithf ordered by thg
hearing officer was inadequate andppropriate as a matter of lawddckson | Dkt. No. 8 at 6.
She states that the May 18, 2009 HOD is ‘imoline with the facts of the caseiti( at 2), and
that the hearing officer “did ndully address factuallyr legally all reliefsought by Plaintiffs.”

Id. at T 17. However, the Complaint and émded Complaint are devoid of any factl

1 The only mention of Section 504 in the Amended Complaint is a jurisdictional 8aenlackson Dkt.

No. 8 at 1 1. Count Three of the Complaint does claim a Section 504 violation, stating “Defendanimdisd
against Plaintiff in violation of Section 504.” Howeverettd are no facts alleged in the Complaint to support this

as

ntly

-

g

A\1”4

hal

allegation. In her opposition to the motion to dismiss, Ms. Jackson alleges that DCPS demonstrated bad faith and

gross misconduct by having her physically removed from an IEP meeting in 2006. She also implieP8at DC
abused AJP in 2004 and is responsible for his seiZBessJackson Dkt. No. 11 at 21-22Again, none of these
allegations were pled in the Complaint or Amended Complaint.
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allegations supporting this claim. Accargdly, this claim must be dismisse8Blee, Twomblyl 27
S.Ct. at 1974 (a plaintiff is geiired to plead enougladts to state a claim for relief that
plausible on its faceBergen v. Rothchild648 F.Supp. 582, 586 (D.D.C. 1982) (“The compla
must contain sufficient information for the cotwt determine whether arot a valid claim for
relief has been stated and to enable the opg@srty to prepare aadequate pleading”).

B. Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss, in Part, Jackson |l

On April 19, 2010, whileJackson lwas still pending, MsJackson filed her secon
lawsuit with this courtJackson v. Rheet al., 1:10-cv-00604 (BJR)Jackson I1). Ms. Jackson
characterizeslackson llas an appeal of the Januatg, 2010 HOD. Notwithstanding th
characterization, the Complaint also seeks redress pursuant to Section 1983, the Af
Section 5042 Defendants move to dismiss all but Count | of the Compliiftefendants
contend that Counts 1I-VI are barred by thatste of limitations and/or the doctrine s
judicata, or that they fail to state a claim upoevhich relief may be granted. In additio
defendants move to dismiss Defiant Michelle Rhee from the &mt because the District @
Columbia is the proper party Defendant.

1. Dismissal of Defendant Rhee Is Warranted

The court agrees that Ms. Rhee is not a prppety defendant to ih action. Ms. Jackso
brought suit against M&hee “in her official capacitgs Chancellor of [DCPS]See Jackson,llI
Dkt. No. at 1. Government officials sued in thefficial capacities are ngiersonally liable fon

damages. Instead, a plaintiff stulook to the municipality.See Atchinson v. District

12 Ms. Jackson seeks the following relief: (1) comptargadamages in the amount of twenty million dollar

(2) compensatory education in theamt of $275,000; (3) prate placement with a one-time lump sum paymen
twelve million dollars for tuition; and (4) declaratory religfckson 1) Dkt. No. 1 at 27-28.

13 Count | is the appeal of the administrative duseess hearing, which Defendants concede is properly

before this court.
ORDER-19
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Columbig 73 F.3d 418, 424 (D.C.Cir. 1996jting Kentucky v. Graham473 U.S. 159, 166

(1985). Courts routinely dismissorresponding claims againsadividuals in their official
capacity as “redundant and an inent use of judicial resourcesRobinson v. District of
Columbig 403 F.Supp.2d 39, 49 (D.D.C. 2008ge also, Jenkins v. Jacks&38 F.Supp.2d 31
33-34 (D.D.C. 2008).

Ms. Jackson does not allege that Ms. Rheg dweectly involved in any of the inciden
listed in the Complaint, nor does she allege Msat Rhee directed, approved or encouraged
actions of those who allegedly harmed AJPfalet, there are no allegatis whatsoever again
Ms. Rhee in the Complaint. Ms. Rhee’s presendhigaction is duplicative and an ineffecti
use of judicial resources. Aaabngly, dismissal of this casgainst Ms. Rhee is appropriate.

2. Count Il Is Duplicative of Count |

Next, defendants argue thaount Il must be dismissed ¢ruse it fails to state a clai
upon which relief may be granted. The court agr€esint Il is titled “Defendants by Custom
Practice have [Violated Plaintiff] Rights Pursuant to IDEAJackson 1] Dkt. No. 1 at 22. It
contains two paragraphs—paragraph 126 and paragraphdl27aragraph 126 re-allege tk
introduction and proceeding paraphs in the Complaintd.** Paragraph 127 summari
concludes that “[pJursuamd IDEA, Defendants violateBlaintiffs’ [sic] rights.”Id. Ms. Jackson
has already asserted the allegemations of IDEIA set forth in the preceding 125 paragraph
the complaint in Count I. Accordingly,a0nt Il is duplicative and will be dismissed.

3. Count Il Fails to State a Claim upon Which Relief May Be Granted

Count Il of the Complaint is the Section 1983 claim. Defendants submit that this

14 Throughout the Complaint there are referencekeaancorporation of “Plaintiff's Complaint, first

Amended Complaint and facts comtad in their [sic] Opposition to Defendants’ Motion to DismiS€ge, e.g.,
Jackson ) Dkt. No. 1 at 126, 128 and 130. Such pleaditogsot exist. Accordinglythe court will disregard
these statements.
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must be dismissed because it fails to stata@n upon which relief mabe granted. The cour

agrees. As stated previously, in order to reama Section 1983 claim against a municipa
such as the District of Colun#y the burden is on the plaintiff to establish that: (1) that
defendant violated IDEA; (2) that “exceptional cinestances” exist, sut¢hat the conduct of thg
defendant causing the IDEA violation was “pstsntly egregious and grented or frustrate
[plaintiff] from securing equitale relief under the IDEA”(3) that the “Distict of Columbia has
a custom or practice that is the moving forchihe the alleged IDEA viaitions”; and (4) thai
“normal remedies offered under the IDEAgpesifically, compensatory education—g
inadequate to compensate [plaintiff] for therhdhat he [or she] alleged has sufferaifalker v.
District of Columbia 157 F.Supp.2d 11, 30 (D.D.C. 2004¢e also, R.S. v. District of Colump
292 F.Supp.2d 23, 29 (D.D.C. 200d)askalea v. District of Columbja227 F.3d 433, 44]
(D.C.Cir. 2000).

Once again, Ms. Jackson has not mettheden. The Complaint is predicated on t
alleged failures by DCPS—the failure to compligh the 2004 IEP and the failure to develop

appropriate new IEP and placement. This, without more, is insufficient to support a Sectig

—

ty

the

1%

a

VO

an

n 1983

claim. Ms. Jackson must also set forth sofaetual basis to support an allegation that a

municipal policy or custom caused DCRSviolate AJP’s rights under the IDEI&ee, e.g
Shelton 656 F.Supp.2d at 87 (dismissing Section 1983 claim because it did not set fo
factual allegations that couldigport a reasonable inference tha District of Columbia had {
policy or practice of refusing to comply with HODSlrimble v. District of Columbia779
F.Supp.2d 54, 59 (D.D.C. 2011) (dismissing Secli®@3 claim because plaintiff failed to nan

or identify any policy, practice, or custom, identify other incidents showing that the poli

department had gender discriminatory polici&wen v. Fenty666 F.Supp.2d 71, 79 (D.D.C.
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2009) (noting that plaintiff dichot state a claim under Section 1988 ause he did not pled af
facts supporting the existence of a discriminatoojicy or practice). Indeed, Ms. Jackson |
not alleged that DCPS’ alleged failures wermshbow caused by a municipal custom or pract
nor has she set forth in her Complaint anyuakttllegations that would support a reasona
inference that the District or RS has or had a custom or polmfyrefusing to comply with ol
adequately develop IEPs. Accardly, Count Ill must be dismissed.
4. Count IV Fails to State a &m upon Which Relief May Be Granted
Count IV of the Complaint includes ttgection 504 and ADA claims. As previous
discussed, Section 504 ofethRehabilitation Act provides dh “[nJo otherwise qualified

individual with a disability...shallsolely by reason of her or hissdbility, be excluded from th

participation in, be denied the benefits ofpersubjected to discrimation under any program ¢r

activity receiving Federal finandiassistance.” 29 U.S.C. 8§ 7@4(To state a Section 504 clai

based on alleged IDEA violationa plaintiff must allege tha (1) the disabled student was

treated differently from non-disadd students solely because of br her disabilities, and (4
school officials acted in bad faittr demonstrated gross miscondiMalker, 157 F.Supp.2d &
797 citing Monahan v. Nebraska687 F.2d 1164, 1170 {8Cir. 1982) (liability will not be

imposed as long as the “state officials havereised professional judgment, in such a way

not to depart grossly from acceptednstards among educational professionalség also, R.S.

v. District of Columbia292 F.Supp.2d 23, 28 (D.C.C. 2003).

Here, Ms. Jackson fails to state a claim under Section 504 because she has not

y

1as

ice,

ible

D

y

m

N

t
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alleged

that AJP was treated differently from non-disaldatlents solely because of his disabilities, nor

has she alleged anything in the Complaint thatld tend to demonstrate gross misconduct or

bad faith by DCPS. In her Opposition, Msckson argues that DCPS’ placement of AJH
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Tyler Elementary School was inappropridiecause the school could not accommodate
disabilities.See Jackson ,IIDkt. No. 5 at 19-20. She also states that AJP “has not been f{
evaluated and has not had aper IEP developed since 2004d:. at 21. These arguments g
nothing more than allegationsf IDEIA violations, which ae appropriately remedied b

appealing an administrative due process hearing, in other words, Count | of this Complain

Similarly, Ms. Jackson has failed to plead ADA claim. The ADA prohibits publi¢

entities from excluding qualified indduals with disabilities fronparticipating in or receiving
the benefits of “the services, programs, or awési of that entity. 42 U.S.C. § 12132. As a lo
government, the District of Columbia is a public entlty. at § 12131(1)(a) €&fining “public
entity” as “any state or local government”). Telements of an ADA discrimination claim ar
(1) that the plaintiff is a qualified individual with a disability; (2) that the public entity de

him the benefits of or prohibited him from peipating in the entity's services, programs

activities; and (3) thatenial or prohibition was “by reas of” his disability. 42 U.S.C. § 12132

While the IDEIA addresses ingect or erroneous speciabgation treatment, the ADA
addresses discrimination against the disatdtdlent. Thus, something more than a m
violation of the IDEIA is necessary order to show a violation of the ADAIston v. District of
Columbig 770 F.Supp.2d 289, 298 (D.D.C. 2011).

Here, Ms. Jackson makes no allegation that DCPS discriminated against AJP b3
his disability. In fact, there arno allegations in the complaint that AJP was discrimin

against at all. Rather, Ms. Jackson argtlet DCPS failed to develop a proper IEP 4

placement for AJP. In other words, she challerthesappropriateness of the special educat

program offered to AJP (an IDEIA claim)né not that DCPS deprived AJP access to

program based on his disability (an ADA clairagcordingly, Count IV must be dismissed.
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5. Count V Fails to State a Claim upon Which Relief May Be Granted
In Count V, Ms. Jackson alleges that DCRSaliated” against her, but does not ple

the legal basis for her claim. &lcourt assumes that she is brings the claim pursuant to S

504 and the ADA. Once again, the claim mustdimmissed. Ms. Jackson alleges that DG

retaliated against han the following two ways: (1pn October 27, 2008, Natalia Houst
allegedly reported to Child and Family Servitlest Ms. Jackson was neglecting AJP, and (2
October 2006, a DCPS employee allegedly had aisgguard escort Ms. Jackson from schg
premises because she wanted to tape record a mekuokgon |] Dkt. No. 1 at Y 133, 134
These allegations contain no refaze to AJP’s disabilities and ¢ainly do not suggest that h
was treated differently on the basis of his digads. In fact, the allegations do not referen
AJP at all. Both the ADA and Section 504 addréiscrimination “by reas of” a disability and
Ms. Jackson’s Complaint is devoid of any gdaons that AJP was discriminated agai
because of his disability. Accordingly, Count V fails to state a claim under the ADA or S
504 and must be dismissetke, e.g., Cummings v. Woodson Senior High Sch@dIF.Supp.24
256, 259 (D.D.C. 2008) (dismissing ADA and Secti® claims on defendant’'s Rule 12(b)
motion because plaintiff asserted only a denial of FAPE and related services—claims cog
under the IDEA);Hinson v. Merritt Educational Centeb21 F.Supp.2d 22, 31 (D.D.C. 200
(dismissing ADA and Section 504 clairhecause plaintiff failed to laige that school treated s¢
differently on the basis of his disability).

6. Count VI Is Duplicative and Faite State a Claim upon Which Relief
MayBe Granted

In Count VI of the Complaintyls. Jackson alleges “[r]eckless or negligent [spoliation
evidence and further retaliationlackson 1] Dkt. No. 1 at 23. She rdlkeges many of the factug

allegations pertaining to her appeal of thenuary 13, 2010 HOD, but she also alleges
ORDER-24
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“[d]efendants intentionally or negligently destroyed [the audio recording of the due p
hearing] that is required toe kept and provided to tfaintiffs pursuant to IDEA.1d. at 25. It
is not clear from the face of the pleading whts. Jackson alleges is the legal basis for re
under this claim.

In her Opposition to the motion to dismidés. Jackson attempts tdarify Count VI by
asserting that the “further retaliation” of which she alleged in the claim referred to “defel
deliberately contacting DC Child and Familyrdees alleging educational neglect when 1
parties were involved in administrative procegd,” and to the fact that she was physica
removed from the IEP meeting in October 200&ckson I) Dkt. 5 at 23-24. This clarificatiol

does not salvage Count VI. These claims are duplicative of the tietal@daims that Ms.

ocess

lief

ndants

he

ally

n

Jackson asserted in Count V, and as discusapty are insufficient to state a claim under

Section 504 or the ADA.

Therefore, to the extent that Count Vleges that defendants sieoyed evidence, th
claim rules afoul of Federal Rule ofu@iProcedure 8 and must be dismissgde Bell Atl. Corp
v. Twombly 550 U.S. 544, 555 (2007) (a complaint maentain sufficient factual matte
accepted as true, to “state a claim for relief thatasisible on its face”). To the extent the Co
alleges retaliation, fathe reasons set forgupra the claim runs afoul of Federal Rule 12(b)(
Finally, to the extent that the claim alleges thiat Jackson was denied an impartial due pro

hearing, the allegations are duptiva of the allegions in Count I. As such, the court will tre

these allegations as furthéactual support for Count | andismiss them from Count VI

Accordingly, Count VI must be dismisséed.

15 Defendants also argue that to the extent Ms. Jackson seeks to re-litigate the issue of whether AJP i

to “stay put” pursuant to Judge Urbina’s September 30, 2005 order and whether DCPS must continue to pa
services provided consistent with the 2004 IEP, the claim is barred by the doctesguaficata The court agrees.
For the reasons previously stated heraity such claims must be dismissed.
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[V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the court hereby:

1. GRANTS Defendants’ Motion to Biniss the Amended Complaint Jackson |
(dkt. no. 9). The Amended Complaint is HEREBYSMISSED with prejudice and the case
closed,;

2. GRANTS Defendants’ Motion for R&l Dismissal of Complaint idackson II
(dkt. no. 3). Counts II, IlI, IV, Vand VI are HEREBY DISMISSED;

3. Defendants are instructed to file ars\aar or other respoive pleading within

thirty days of the date of this order;

S

4, Defendants are further instructed to file the administrative record for this matter,

including a transcript of the daary 13, 2010 due procelsearing, within sixty days of the da
of this order. If defendants are unable dbtain a copy of the hearing transcript, they
instructed to submit an affidavit setting fortteithefforts to obtain thé&anscript and why they
were unable to obtain it. Defentta shall inform the court vether standard procedure w
employed with respect to recording and presertireggaudio recording ama transcript of the
hearing;

5. In addition, the parties are instructed to &il@int status reposvithin thirty days
of the date of this order, up-dating the courttomstatus of AJP’s cuent educational placemer

any relevant changes in AJP’s condition, and whetieeparties are interestedmediating this
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dispute.

DATED this 28" day of November, 2011.

ORDER-27

A

Barbara Jacobs Rothstein
U.S. District Court Judge




